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PETITION FOR REVIEW (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500) AFTER 

THE PARTIALLY PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF 

APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO, 

AFFIRMING AND REVERSING THE JUDGMENT IN PART 

 

TO THE HONORABLE CHIEF JUSTICE TANI GORRE CANTIL-

SAKAUYE AND TO THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF 

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA: 

 

Following the Court of Appeal’s decision on remand for 

reconsideration of its prior decision in light of Senate Bill 620 (S.B. 620), 

Jose Luis Perez petitions a second time from the court’s new opinion, filed 

on April 12, 2018, affirming and reversing the judgment in part (as later 

modified on May 9, 2018, with no change in the judgment).1 Perez again 

respectfully requests this Court’s review concerning the issues that follow.  

 

ISSUES PRESENTED 

 1. Whether the integrity and fundamental fairness of the judicial 

process in these “gang” cases are being eroded away through prosecutions 

that permit gang-related convictions and enhancements without 

constitutionally sufficient evidence of each legally required element. 

 2. Whether the “escape rule” applies to cut off felony murder 

liability of an accomplice who is no longer “jointly engaged” in the 

underlying felony and has reached “a place of temporary safety” by the 

time of the killing. 

                                                           
1  The Court of Appeal’s opinion is attached as Appendix A. 
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 3. Whether the trial court prejudicially erred by instructing the 

jury that it could base its first degree murder verdicts upon the legally 

invalid “natural and probable consequences” theory of liability.  

 4. Whether the evidence in support of the first degree murder 

convictions, and the attendant special circumstances, is constitutionally 

insufficient under any of the potentially viable theories of guilt. 

 5. Whether the undisputed error in the trial court’s failure to 

instruct the jury on the specific mental state required for the multiple 

murder special circumstances compels reversal. 

 6. Whether the attempted murder conviction must be reversed 

because the supporting evidence is also constitutionally insufficient. 

 7. Whether the presentation to the jury of multiple legally 

invalid theories of guilt as bases for the attempted murder conviction 

requires reversal, even if the supporting evidence is legally sufficient. 

 8. Whether the kidnapping convictions on Counts 8 and 9 must 

be reversed because the evidence is legally insufficient to prove asportation.  

 9. Whether the trial court prejudicially erred in failing to instruct 

the jury on the defense of duress. 

 10. Whether the cumulative effect of the multiple trial errors 

requires reversal even if their individual prejudicial impact does not.  
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NECESSITY FOR REVIEW   

 The tragedy of the victims’ deaths in this case has been compounded 

by the travesty of justice in the prosecution’s overzealous pursuit of Jose 

Perez and the co-appellants in this case (and several others) as supposed 

disciples of a Mexican “drug cartel” who executed an elaborate kidnapping-

for-ransom-and-robbery scheme to viciously extort every last penny and 

piece of property the victims had, drive them to the middle of nowhere 

bound at the wrists and ankles, shoot them, and then leave them for dead. 

Packaged this way, the prosecution was able to sell the case as warranting a 

litany of egregious of convictions and sentencing enhancements carrying 

the most egregious of prison terms – life without the possibility of parole.  

 Perez, in reality, was just a “babysitter” for his friend’s children, 

with no prior connection to any “cartels,” “gangs,” or other nefarious 

activities. The evidence of his involvement as a knowing and active 

participant in the crimes against the victims is tenuous at best. The pathway 

to his convictions was indeed paved with insubstantial evidence artificially 

buttressed by invalid theories of guilt and erroneous instructions on the law, 

not just resulting in a miscarriage of justice that only this Court can rectify 

but also highlighting important legal issues only this Court can resolve.  

/ / / 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS  

 The convictions against Perez in this San Bernardino County case 

stem from a retrial of the same charges and allegations that previously 

ended in total deadlock and a mistrial as to him but a conviction on all 

charges and allegations against his co-defendant Sabas Iniguez. (6CT 1550-

1555.) Iniguez struck a sentencing deal and became the primary prosecution 

witness in the retrial, which this time included Edgar Chavez-Navarro 

(Chavez) and Pablo Sandoval as Perez’s co-defendants, although Perez had 

one jury while they had another. (6CT 1621-1625; 4RT 883-887.)  

All three defendants were convicted of murdering Eduardo Gomez 

and Alejandro Martin (§ 187, subd. (a)), 2  under several special 

circumstances: multiple murder (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(3)); financial gain 

motivation (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(1)); lying in wait (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(15)); 

robbery-murder (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(17)(A)); kidnapping-murder (§ 190.2, 

subd. (a)(17)(B)); and criminal street gang motivation (§ 190.2, subd. 

(a)(22)). Both juries also found true additional allegations that a principal in 

the crimes personally and intentionally discharged a firearm causing great 

bodily injury or death (§ 12022.53, subds. (d) & (e)(1)) and that the crimes 

were gang-related (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)). (5CT 1296-1298, 1310). 

                                                           
2  Statutory citations are to the Penal Code, and citations to court rules 

refer to the California Rules of Court.  



 
  

11 
 

They were all further convicted of attempting to kill Luis Romero 

(§§ 664/187, subd. (a), 1192.7, subd. (a)); kidnapping Romero, Gomez, and 

Martin under the special circumstance that the victims suffered great bodily 

injury or death or were exposed to a substantial likelihood of death (§ 209, 

subd. (a)); kidnapping for robbery of all three victims (§ 209, subd. (b)); 

and street terrorism (§ 186.22, subd. (a)). As to all these convictions, the 

jury also found true additional firearm allegations (§ 12022.53, subds. (d) & 

(e)(1)) and gang-crime allegations (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)). (7CT 1845-

1886, 1908-1910, 1925-1967, 1988-1998; 8CT 1999-2036, 2057-2067.)3 

Perez was sentenced to multiple executed terms of life without the 

possibility of parole (LWOP) and 25 years to life, in accordance with the 

mandatory sentencing schemes then applicable to the special circumstance 

murder convictions and the firearm allegations, as well as a determinate 

term of three years. (8CT 2187-2190, 2213-2217; 2SCT 2-6; 9RT 2164-

2196.) Two of the life terms were based upon the then-mandatory firearm 

enhancements of 25 years to life under section 12022.53, subdivisions (d) 

and (e)(1). Perez’s notice of appeal was deemed timely filed. (2SCT 7-8.) 

                                                           
3  Eduardo Alvarado and Cesar Rodriguez were also initially charged 

as co-defendants but were ultimately severed, tried separately, and 

convicted of a battery of similar offenses. (4CT 1126-1129; 5CT 939-

1009.) Their convictions were affirmed. (Case Nos. E054118 & S215780.) 
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Perez’s appeal was consolidated with those of Sandoval and 

Navarro.4 They all raised numerous claims and joined in the claims of each 

other to one degree or another. For his part, Perez challenged the 

convictions and related sentencing enhancements on the basis that they 

lacked legally sufficient evidentiary support, were the product of prejudicial 

instructional errors, and/or stemmed from legally invalid theories of guilt.  

The Court of Appeal agreed with the contentions of Perez (and the 

other appellants) that the evidence in support of the gang special 

circumstance enhancements (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(22)) was legally 

insufficient, and that the trial court prejudicially erred in failing to instruct 

on the financial-gain special circumstance enhancements (§ 190.2, subd. 

(a)(1)); so it reversed and vacated those enhancements. The court rejected 

the rest of appellants’ claims. The first round of petitions for review then 

ensued. The case was commenced in this Court in November 2017 under 

case number S245612. On January 1, 2018, S.B. 620 became effective, and 

changed the law such that the firearm enhancements under section 

12022.53, subdivisions (d) and (e)(1) are now discretionary, not mandatory. 

Shortly thereafter, co-appellant Chavez filed a supplemental petition for 

review challenging the imposition of his additional life terms under these 

sections on the basis that he was entitled to the retroactive benefit of the 

                                                           
4  Iniguez’s appeal was initially consolidated into this action as well, 

but it was later severed for separate appellate adjudication. 
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law by having the trial court exercise its newly-granted discretion to 

determine whether the enhancements should be stricken or imposed.   

On February 28, 2018, this Court granted the petitions for review for 

the limited purpose of transferring the matter back to the Court of Appeal 

with directions to vacate its original opinion and reconsider the cause in 

light of S.B. 620 as to all appellants;5 this Court closed the case pending 

under case number S245612. The Court of Appeal vacated its opinion on 

March 2, 2018, and ordered supplemental briefing on the effect of S.B. 620. 

All parties, including the Attorney General, agreed in their supplemental 

briefs that S.B. 620 applied retroactively to this case and required a remand 

to the trial court with directions to exercise its newly-granted discretion to 

determine whether the firearm enhancements mandatorily imposed under 

former section 12022.53, subdivisions (d) and (e)(1), should be stricken.   

 On April 12, 2018, the Court of Appeal issued its new opinion, 

which was substantially the same as the first one except that it reversed all 

of the appellants’ firearm enhancements under section 12022.53, 

subdivisions (d) and (e)(1), and remanded the matter for resentencing under 

the new law. (App. A.) The court later modified its opinion on May 9, 

2018, without effect upon the judgment, for reasons not pertinent to Perez’s 

                                                           
5  This Court also ordered the Court of Appeal’s initial opinion, 

published at 16 Cal.App.5th 636, depublished. 
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claims on appeal. (Ibid.) 6  These subsequent petitions for review have 

ensued and are being administered under the new case number S248730. 

 The following is a brief rendition of the evidence developed at trial 

(additional relevant details are provided in context with the claims at issue): 

  

I. The Incident  

In June 2009, one or more people owed some kind of debt to Louis 

Romero and Alejandro Martin related to their drug-dealing business. The 

evidence variously (and confusingly) indicated it was: (a) someone living 

somewhere in Mexico known only as “David;” (b) someone else in Mexico 

known only as “Max” who had some kind of connection to appellants 

Sandoval and Chavez; or (c) Max and a number of other identified people 

(the “unknowns,” as they were called at trial), who were believed to be 

somehow associated with either Max or appellant Sandoval. (5RT 1277-

1278, 1303-1304; 6RT 1422, 1474, 1486-1487; 13CT 3152, 3202.) This 

“Max” character devised some kind of scheme to deal with this problem, 

enlisting the assistance of the unknowns, appellants Sandoval and Navarro, 

Alvarado and Rodriguez (the defendants in the related case), and Flor 

Iniguez (“Flor”) to carry out the scheme at Flor’s home off Center Street in 

the South Gate area of Los Angeles. (6RT 1516; 13CT 3126, 3171.) 

                                                           
6  This opinion is published at 22 Cal.App.5th 201. 
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Whatever the original scheme was, the execution led to the capturing 

of Romero, Martin, and Eduardo Gomez (Martin’s personal driver) at the 

Center Street home, where they were bound, blindfolded, and detained at 

gunpoint for two to three days during which they were forced to surrender 

their personal valuables, money, and drugs they had, and then they were 

driven to a remote area of Victorville where they were shot. (5RT 1305-

1312, 1324-1325, 1328-1330, 1352-1358; 6RT 1427-1428, 1457, 1525-

1526; 13CT 3121-3122, 3163-3166, 3176-3177, 3181-3186, 3193, 3211.) 

Martin and Gomez died from their gunshot wounds, while Romero 

survived and managed to stumble to the roadside where he flagged down 

help. (4RT 927-933, 943, 954-958, 974-976, 1002-1007; 6RT 1397-1410.)   

The big questions at trial were who was involved in the planning and 

execution, what each person knew about the scheme, and the extent to 

which the crimes were connected to a “criminal street gang” – specifically, 

the Sinaloa drug cartel. As far as Perez is concerned, it was uncontested 

that: he worked as a “babysitter” for Flor’s children (5RT 1205-1207, 1219-

1220; 6RT 1419, 1613; 13CT 3141, 3146) and had no prior connections to 

any drug cartel or criminal street gang (6RT 1419, 1493-1494, 1613; 13CT 

3141, 3146); he was threatened with harm to himself or his family if he did 

not follow the ringleaders’ orders (6RT 1424-1425; 13CT 3129, 3145-

3146, 3157, 3206); and neither he nor Iniguez was present at the scene of 

the victims’ shooting (5RT 1358; 6RT 1429, 1461; 13CT 3208-3211). 
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Where the evidence was divergent as to Perez concerned whether he 

knew the leaders’ scheme included the plan to kill the victims after they 

were taken for all they had, what he did to aid and abet the general scheme, 

whether there existed any cartel-related purpose behind the crimes, and 

whether Perez was aware of that purpose and acted in association with 

cartel members to promote, further, or assist them in that purpose.  

According to Iniguez’s testimony under oath at trial, he and Perez 

were told only that the scheme involved extorting money and drugs. (5RT 

1277-1278, 1428.) At no point had any of the leaders said the victims 

would be killed (5RT 1336, 1338, 1491; 6RT 1516); Alvarado only said the 

victims would be driven out to the middle of nowhere and left (5RT 1339). 

Iniguez and Perez were threatened that they would “join” the victims if they 

did not assist. (6RT 1424-1425.) They acted as “bait” by washing vehicles 

outside the Center Street residence so Martin and Gomez would feel 

comfortable entering the home. (5RT 1294-1295.) Iniguez and Perez 

entered some 20 minutes later, after all the victims had already been bound 

and blindfolded. (5RT 1305-1307, 1333-1334.) While Chavez and 

Sandoval participated with Max, Alvarado, and the unknowns in extorting 

the victims’ money and drugs with threats at gunpoint, Iniguez and Perez 

sat by passively. (5RT 1316-1318, 1321-1323; 6RT 1425-1426, 1448-1450, 

1490.) After the victims had been taken for everything, Iniguez and Perez 

obeyed the others’ orders to act as “lookouts” as the victims were escorted 
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outside and to then follow while the others drove the victims to Victorville, 

but they got separated from the group and only learned of the shooting after 

the fact. (5RT 1340-1342, 1352-1358; 6RT 1427-1431, 1457, 1461-1463.) 

The statements of Perez that the prosecution introduced were the 

product of the second of two lengthy police interrogations in which the 

interrogators elicited statements that Iniguez had initially informed Perez 

the plan was to take everything the victims had and then “kill” them. (13CT 

3126, 3171.) He also said under this interrogation that he had assisted in 

binding and blindfolding Martin and Gomez, although only at the direction 

of Chavez or Sandoval. (13CT 3145-3147, 3184-3185.) Perez’s statements 

otherwise agreed with Iniguez’s on the point that they acted passively as 

“bait” and “lookouts” while under threat and were not involved with the 

shooting. (13CT 3129-3130, 3164-3167, 3181, 3188-3194, 3206, 3210.)    

 

II. The Alleged “Drug Cartel” Connection 

Iniguez testified that at one point he trafficked drugs for groups he 

“assume[d]” were connected to Mexican drug cartels because most of the 

illegal drugs flowing into the South Gate area were from one cartel or 

another. (6RT 1467-1468.). But, since before the incident, he had been a 

freelancer working for “[p]retty much anybody” who would supply him 

drugs. (5RT 1266-1267; 6RT 1446, 1459.) Romero was one of Iniguez’s 

suppliers, and he and Martin were connected to some kind of Mexican 
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“cartel” based in Guadalajara. (6RT 1469-1470, 1481-1482, 1505-1506, 

1517.) Someone named “Gordo” was involved in the same chain of supply, 

but he was “from a different cartel.” (6RT 1484-1485, 1507-1508.) 

Alvarado was also involved in similar chains of drug distribution, but he 

too was not part of Martin and Romero’s cartel and was instead more of a 

“freelance[r]” like Iniguez. (6RT 1485-1486, 1508-1510, 1515-1516.) Max 

was involved in a “kind of a third group” distinct from that of Martin and 

Gordo. (6RT 1470-1471, 1487, 1510.) Max was evidently in the same 

group as the “unknowns” and Sandoval, and they all appeared to be 

associated with an American street gang. (6RT 1474, 1486, 1492-1493, 

1511, 1518, 1520, 1522.) Sandoval appeared to have no prior connection to 

Martin, Romero, Alvarado, Gordo, or Flor. (5RT 1276, 1279; 6RT 1511.) 

Perez “was not connected” at all to any of this business. (6RT 1419.) 

 Relying on his experience with American criminal street gangs and 

some “homework” on Mexican drug cartels (6RT 1544-1551, 1599-1601, 

1608-1612, 1617), California Highway Patrol Officer Jeffrey Moran 

testified that this incident was connected to the Sinaloa cartel because all 

those involved were, or likely were, somehow connected to the cartel. (6RT 

1588-1590.) Specifically, though he did not know who “Max,” “Gordo,” or 

the unknowns were (6RT 1556, 1586), Moran surmised a high 

“probability” that they were all connected to the cartel, but evidently 

through different factions or “cells” of the cartel (6RT 1586-1590). Martin, 
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Romero, and Gomez apparently belonged to cells other than those to which 

Max and Gordo belonged. (6RT 1556, 1586, 1589-1590.) In Gordo’s cell, 

he worked for Alvarado, as did Chavez and Rodriguez. (6RT 1556, 1565-

1568, 1586.) Flor worked for Romero in a “separate entity.” (6RT 1585.) 

Iniguez was a member or associate of some unspecified cell. (6RT 1561-

1562.) As for Perez, Moran testified that he was a “low level associate,” 

“doing some floor work,” based on the nature of Perez’s involvement in the 

incident and statements from the police interrogation that Moran took to 

mean Perez was trying to “audition” for Sandoval. (6RT 1566, 1606-1607, 

1613.) Moran did not opine about the specific cell to which Sandoval may 

have belonged or the specific role he may have had in the cartel; he only 

assumed that Sandoval was a member of the cartel since he apparently “had 

direct contact with Max” during the incident at issue. (6RT 1567-1568.)  

/ / / 
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ARGUMENT 

I. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RESTORE THE INTEGRITY 

AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS OF THE JUDICIAL 

PROCESS IN THESE “GANG” CASES BY ENSURING THE 

PROSECUTION IS HELD TO ITS BURDEN OF PROVING 

THE GANG-RELATED NATURE OF THE CHARGES AND 

ALLEGATIONS WITH CONSTITUTIONALLY SUFFICIENT 

EVIDENCE OF EACH LEGALLY REQUIRED ELEMENT  

 

 As Perez continues to maintain (see infra Section IV), all the 

convictions to which the true findings on the gang-related enhancements 

and special circumstance allegations attach must be reversed for lack of 

legally sufficient evidence, nullifying the effect of all such findings. But, as 

Chavez contends in arguments that Perez joins (Chavez Pet. for Rev. (PTR) 

24-27; Rule 8.200(a)(5)), even if those convictions hold up, these findings, 

along with the related “street terrorism” conviction, must fail anyway for 

lack of legally sufficient evidence to independently support any of them. 

Review is necessary to remedy this injustice and to stop the erosion of the 

fundamental constitutional guarantees that Perez was denied along the way.  

 Perez wholeheartedly agrees with Chavez that the Court of Appeal 

misses the point entirely through the circular logic it employs to reach the 

conclusion that Officer Moran’s “homework” means his testimony “was 

not speculative or conjectural.” (App. A at 42; Chavez PTR 23-24.) Not 

only was this the very sort of testimony that “cannot rise to the dignity of 

substantial evidence” (People v. Wright (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 537, 545), 

but the foundation of it violates fundamental confrontation principles as 
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Chavez further contends (Chavez PTR 17-20 [explaining how the 

information on which Moran relied violated the rule pronounced in People 

v. Sanchez (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665, that “a gang expert may not convey case-

specific testimonial hearsay to jurors to support his opinions”]). 

 Even setting aside the fundamental problems in how this evidence 

was developed, what it purportedly established is insufficient as a matter of 

law to support the gang-related findings. This “house built on sand” is 

devoid of the most basic components necessary to build a case for any 

“gang-related” substantive crime, special circumstance, or enhancement 

allegation – specifically, that the underlying criminal conduct was directly 

connected to a “criminal street gang” as defined by the STEP Act. 

‘“To establish that a group is a criminal street gang within the 

meaning of the statute, the People must prove: (1) the group is an ongoing 

association of three or more persons sharing a common name, identifying 

sign, or symbol; (2) one of the group’s primary activities is the commission 

of one or more statutorily enumerated criminal offenses; and (3) the group's 

members must engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang 

activity.”’ (People v. Cornejo (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 36, 47, quoting People 

v. Duran (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1448, 1457; § 186.22, subd. (f).) ‘“A 

‘pattern of criminal gang activity’ is defined as gang members’ individual 

or collective ‘commission of, attempted commission of, conspiracy to 

commit, or solicitation of, sustained juvenile petition for, or conviction of 
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two or more’ enumerated ‘predicate offenses’ during a statutorily defined 

time period. The predicate offenses must have been committed on separate 

occasions, or by two or more persons.”’ (Ibid.; § 186.22, subd. (e).) 

The mere recitation of these elements spotlights the flaws in the 

Court of Appeal’s analysis. It expressly recognizes that there is no evidence 

the subset or “cell” of the cartel to which the “participants” (i.e., “Max” and 

company) belonged – the “relevant gang” as the court calls it – was actually 

a “criminal street gang,” because nothing establishes it had a “common 

name, sign, or symbol.” (App. A at 45-46.) It further recognizes there is no 

evidence the victims belonged to the same “cell” to which the participants 

belonged and, in fact, that “the crimes actually cut against the interests of 

the overall cartel” given the participants’ personal motives. (App. A at 46.) 

And expressly for those reasons, the court reverses the gang special 

circumstance enhancements. Inexplicably, the court fails to recognize or 

acknowledge the same problems fatally infect all the gang-related findings.  

Proof of a “criminal street gang” connection is required for the gang-

related sentencing enhancements (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)), the gang special 

circumstances (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(22)), and the substantive offense of street 

terrorism (§ 186.22, subd. (a)), alike. So, if “the relevant gang” consists of 

the individual subsets or “cells” of the cartel to which the participants 

belonged, then there is a failure of proof as to all these findings because 
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none of the “cells” in the nebulous network of cells Moran described was 

shown as having in itself any of the statutorily defined characteristics. 

Moreover, the evidence doesn’t just fail to show the victims were 

part of the same subset or “cell” as the participants; it fails to show that the 

participants themselves were involved in the same cell of the same cartel. 

The Court of Appeal implicitly recognizes this as well in relying solely 

upon the alleged connection between the participants and the Sinaloa cartel 

as a whole in order to uphold the rest of the gang-related findings; it does 

not attempt to connect each to the same subset of that cartel. (See App. A at 

43-44.) The court actually acknowledges that the evidence shows some of 

the participants were part of “different cells” of the same cartel and that it 

does not even show they all were part of the same cartel. (App. A at 44.)  

This is critical because, as this Court has said in no uncertain words, 

the evidence must at least establish that the perpetrators of the crimes were 

part of the same subset of the “criminal street gang” as those who 

perpetrated the predicate offenses on which the prosecution relies – i.e., 

‘“the same ‘group’ that meets the definition of section 186.22(f).”’ (People 

v. Cornejo, supra, 3 Cal.App.5th at p. 48, quoting People v. Prunty (2015) 

62 Cal.4th 59, 71-72.) The ‘“central question”’ is ‘“whether the groups in 

fact constitute the same ‘criminal street gang.’ In making the required 

showing, moreover, the prosecution must do more than simply present 

evidence that various alleged gang subsets are found within the same broad 
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geographic area.”’ (Id. at p. 49, quoting Prunty, at p. 79.) “The prosecution 

must introduce evidence of the alleged subsets’ activities, showing a shared 

identity that warrants treating them as a single group.’” (Ibid.) 

Here, the prosecution relied upon the prior convictions of Alvarado, 

Rodriguez, and Iniguez to establish the “predicate offenses.” (6RT 1560.) 

Moran’s nebulous description of this cartel scheme fails to even establish 

the particular “cell,” if any, to which each of them belonged. Indeed, it 

shows that both Alvarado and Iniguez were “freelancers” who, as the Court 

of Appeal itself admits, “were not bound to any one cell of the cartel.” 

(App. A at 45.) And any cell to which Rodriguez may have belonged was 

never established, since the evidence merely shows he acted as a “mule” 

who moved drugs for one or another unspecified faction of the cartel. (6RT 

1472-1473, 1506, 1508-1509.) At most, the evidence shows these 

individuals were loosely connected with the larger organization of one or 

more cartels in Mexico. And nothing connects them to the same group as 

the group or groups of the same cartel to which the perpetrators of these 

crimes may have belonged (the “relevant gangs” for these purposes) – most 

of whom were themselves evidently connected to different “cells.” 

As a result, the judgment on these gang-related findings violates 

Perez’s fundamental rights to due process, a fair trial, and to a reliable 

determination of guilt. (U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, XIV; Cal. Const., art. I, 

§§ 7, 15, 16.) That the Court of Appeal would endeavor to affirm these 
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findings despite the clear deficiencies in constitutionally sufficient proof 

and in direct contravention of this Court’s controlling precedent 

exemplifies the “increasingly thinning line” of protection against “the 

illegitimate and impermissible substitution of expert opinion for factual 

evidence.” (United States v. Mejia (2d Cir. 2008) 545 F.3d 179, 190-191; 

Chavez PTR 25.) Appellate court opinions like this one are essentially 

sanctioning the practice of permitting purported gang “experts” to hijack 

the role of the trial court and the jury and dictate desired outcomes on gang-

related allegations through testimony “instructing the jury on the existence 

of the facts needed to satisfy the elements” of those allegations. (Ibid.) 

 The erosion of the fundamental protections guaranteed by the 

constitutional standards of “proof beyond a reasonable doubt” of every 

statutorily required element of gang-related allegations cannot be tolerated 

any longer. This is particularly true given the severity of the sentencing 

consequences – here, resulting in terms of life without the possibility of 

parole. Review is necessary to stop this erosion and restore the rule of law –

not only for the protection of defendants against whom such allegations are 

leveled but for the sake of preserving the integrity of the system itself. 

/ / / 
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II. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO CLARIFY THAT THE 

“ESCAPE RULE” APPLIES TO CUT OFF FELONY 

MURDER LIABILITY OF AN ACCOMPLICE WHO IS NO 

LONGER “JOINTLY ENGAGED” IN THE UNDERLYING 

FELONY AND HAS REACHED “A PLACE OF 

TEMPORARY SAFETY” BY THE TIME OF THE KILLING  

 

The felony murder doctrine ‘“should not be extended beyond its 

purpose’” or ‘“beyond any rational function that it is designed to serve.’” 

(People v. Billa (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1064, 1068, quoting People v. Pulido 

(1997) 15 Cal.4th 713, 724.) Surely, this Court did not mean for these 

words of its teaching to ring hollow. The felony murder doctrine has the 

extraordinary effect of relieving the prosecution of its usual burden to prove 

the individualized premeditation and deliberation required for first degree 

murder liability, so long as the killing occurred while the defendant was 

“jointly engaged” with the perpetrators in the commission of a specified 

felony “at the time of such killing.” (Pulido, at p. 722, italics added.) This 

important qualification must be steadfastly held as a firm boundary to 

ensure the felony murder doctrine is not “extended beyond its purpose.” 

Perez continues to maintain that the entirety of the kidnapping-for-

ransom-and-robbery activity upon which felony murder liability could be 

based was long over before the victims were driven out to the remote area 

where they were shot and, also well before that time, all those involved had 

already reached positions of “temporary safety” since the undisputed 

evidence shows they were not in “continued jeopardy” by virtue of any 
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“continued control” over the victims. (People v. Carter (1993) 19 

Cal.App.4th 1251, 1252-1253; see also People v. Wilkins (2013) 56 Cal.4th 

333, 345.) Perhaps it may be fair to say that the killers’ “continued control” 

over the victims until the time of the killing precludes a finding that they 

had “escaped” after the commission of the underlying felonious conduct. 

But principles of fundamental fairness, consistent with the general policy of 

limiting the scope of the felony murder doctrine’s extraordinary effects, 

dictate that the “escape” rule should be applied to cut off felony murder 

liability for an initial accomplice who is no longer “jointly engaged” in the 

continuing nature of the felony and has himself or herself  reached a place 

of temporary safety. This Court should grant review to so hold and ensure 

that the reach of the felony murder doctrine is appropriately cabined. 

 Perez’s situation falls squarely within the proper application of this 

doctrine since the undisputed evidence establishes that he and Iniguez 

“immediately” separated from the caravan of vehicles at the start of the 90-

minute, 90-mile trek to the ultimate scene of the shooting, and then simply 

proceeded on for a night of partying under no threat of apprehension or 

other risk to their safety. (5RT 1358; 6RT 1429, 1461; 13CT 3208-3211.) 

Because Perez was clearly no longer “jointly engaged” in whatever part of 

the underlying felonious conduct was continuing at the hands of the 

perpetrators, the trial court was obligated to instruct the jury on the “escape 

rule” as part of “the general principles of law governing the case” (People 
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v. Valdez (2004) 32 Cal.4th 73, 115), and its failure to do so violated 

Perez’s fundamental rights to due process, a fair trial, and to a reliable 

determination of guilt (U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, XIV; Cal. Const., art. I, 

§§ 7, 15, 16; see also People v. Wilkins, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 351). 

 Accordingly, review is necessary to rectify the prejudicial effects of 

this error and to avert similar miscarriages of justice in future cases.  

 

III. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO REMEDY THE PREJUDICIAL 

INSTRUCTIONAL ERROR THAT PERMITTED THE JURY 

TO BASE ITS FIRST DEGREE MURDER VERDICTS UPON 

THE INVALID “NATURAL AND PROBABLE 

CONSEQUENCES” THEORY OF LIABILITY 

 

 While the Court of Appeal finds no reason for concern about the 

instructions informing the jury that first degree murder liability could be 

predicated upon a theory of aiding and abetting so long as a premeditated 

killing was “a natural and probable consequence” of the target offenses 

(kidnapping for ransom or robbery) (App. A at 63-64; 7CT 1711-1712 

[where the jury was so instructed]), even respondent sees the error. As 

respondent specifically concedes, “the trial court’s failure to instruct the 

jury according to People v. Chiu (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155” was “instructional 

error.” (RB 2, 74.) We must presume the jury “faithfully follow[ed]” this 

wrong instruction. (People v. Mickey (1991) 54 Cal.3d 612, 689, fn. 17.)  

And there is no basis in the record for concluding that the jury 

necessarily dispensed with this invalid theory of liability in favor of a valid 
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one – the litmus test for determining potential “harmlessness.” (People v. 

Chiu, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167 [“Defendant’s first degree murder 

conviction must be reversed unless we conclude beyond a reasonable doubt 

that the jury based its verdict on the legally valid theory that defendant 

directly aided and abetted the premeditated murder.”].) The Court of 

Appeal does not say so either; it simply reasons that the trial court 

“correctly” instructed the jury concerning these points. (App. A at 62-65.) 

As detailed in Section IV, none of the potentially valid theories of guilt in 

support of the first degree murder convictions finds the sort of substantial – 

much less “overwhelming” – evidentiary support necessary to set aside this 

error as harmless. (See People v. Mil (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400, 417.) 

 Reversal is required. (See In re Johnson (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 

1396, 1408 [granting habeas relief for Chiu error because, while it is 

“possible” the jury relied upon a valid theory of first degree murder, “the 

fact remains that the record does not demonstrate which theory the jury 

relied upon, means they may have focused on the invalid theory”].) 

Allowing the judgment to stand in the face of this error violates Perez’s 

fundamental rights to due process, a fair trial, and to a reliable 

determination of guilt. (U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, XIV; Cal. Const., art. I, 

§§ 7, 15, 16; see also Boyde v. California (1990) 494 U.S. 370, 380). 
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IV. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO REMEDY THE 

MISCARRIAGE OF JUSTICE IN THE FAILURE OF THE 

PROSECUTION’S EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE FIRST 

DEGREE MURDER CONVICTIONS, AND THE 

ATTENDANT SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, WITH 

SUFFICIENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE UNDER ANY OF 

THE POTENTIALLY VIABLE THEORIES OF GUILT  

 

 Even granting the prosecution the benefit of construing the record 

and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the judgment, it 

does not contain any substantial evidence – that which is “sufficiently 

reasonable, credible, and of such solid value that a reasonable trier of fact 

could find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt” (People v. 

Chatman (2006) 38 Cal.4th 344, 389) – of Perez’s guilt under any of the 

potentially valid theories of first degree murder (direct aiding and abetting, 

felony murder, or lying in wait) (see Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 

307, 316, 318-319, and People v. Johnson (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576-578).  

 The Court of Appeal claims to find such “substantial” evidence of 

Perez’s having “personally premeditated” the killings based upon: his 

buying latex gloves (supposedly), participating in blindfolding and binding 

of the victims (not so according to Iniguez), and acting as a “lookout;” his 

admissions that he knew in advance about the perpetrators’ plan to kill the 

victims – admissions obtained during hours-long, high pressure 

interrogations designed to extract incriminating statements; and his alleged 

expectation of payment for his assistance. (App. A. at 20-23.) But the 

evidence is, at best, conflicting as to whether any financial motive actually 
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existed since prosecution star witness Iniguez denied any such motive, and 

the uncontroverted evidence in fact establishes that Perez acted under threat 

of severe harm or death to himself or his family if he refused to participate. 

Regardless of whether this evidence rises to the level of legal “duress,” the 

fact remains it still negates the existence of any personal premeditation.  

 Regarding the felony murder theory of liability (and the related 

kidnapping-murder and robbery-murder special circumstance allegations), 

the Court of Appeal purports to make short work of any concerns about the 

sufficiency of the evidence on the basis of its conclusion that the 

kidnapping for robbery and ransom was still ongoing given the 

perpetrators’ continued control over the victims until the shooting and that 

the perpetrators hadn’t reached a place of temporary safety before then. 

(App. A at 23-30.) At the same time, the court admits that proper 

application of the felony murder rule requires solid evidence that Perez was 

“jointly engaged” with the perpetrators in whatever felonious conduct was 

supposedly still ongoing at the time of the shooting. (App. A at 29.) This is 

the very nub of Perez’s point that the felony murder rule cannot properly be 

applied to him since he was clearly not so “jointly engaged” with them and 

that, even if he was, the “escape rule” would cut off any such liability.  

 The Court of Appeal reads far too much into any change in the law 

permitting convictions of first degree murder on the basis of lying in wait 

(and special circumstance enhancements based on lying in wait) for killings 
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that occur sometime “after” a period of lying in wait – i.e., not 

“immediately” upon encountering the victim by surprise. To whatever 

extent the change in the law may have been designed to negate or hedge 

against the long established immediacy requirement for such findings, the 

law still requires the fundamental showing that the killing occurred “by 

means of” lying in wait. The plain meaning of this phase – the primary and 

sole source that should be consulted in determining its meaning, not the 

behind-the-scenes legislative history on which the court relies (Olsen v. 

Automobile Club of Southern California (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1142, 1150) – 

makes clear the killing must at least occur close in time to the lying in wait. 

Ten, fifteen, twenty minutes afterwards? Maybe even a few hours? Sure, 

one might still be able to conceive a tangible connection between the lying 

in wait and the killing. But here, we’re talking days – more than two full 

days – between this activity and the actual killings. To hold, as the Court of 

Appeal does, that this is good enough to establish the killings were by 

means of lying in wait, would open the door to an essentially limitless 

application of the lying-in-wait doctrine – a door that would eventually 

allow the prosecution to pull the first-degree-murder trigger in any case 

where a killing occurred any time “after” some period of lying in wait.  

 As for the remaining special circumstance finding that the murders 

were perpetrated for financial gain, other than wrestling with facts that 

negate the existence of sufficient substantial supporting evidence, the Court 
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of Appeal offers as the basis for its affirmance the mere citation of the 

general principle that “a person who aids and abets a murder . . . carried out 

for financial gain” can be liable for this special circumstance even without 

having a personal financial motive. (App. A at 36-37.) Of course, such 

circular, self-proving logic just assumes the truth of the issue at hand – 

whether the murder was in fact perpetrated for purposes of financial gain. 

We need substantial evidence in support of that notion. That doesn’t exist 

in light of the facts with which the Court of Appeal wrestles and others that 

it does not mention – not the least of which include: (1) Iniguez said the 

money he and Perez received was “borrow[ed]” and not “payment” for their 

participation (5RT 1367, 1372); (2) it was never established that this money 

was part of the victims’ money; and (3) whatever may be said of their 

expectations after the fact, both of them declared they weren’t promised 

any money in advance (5RT 1367, 1372; 13CT 3198, 3203-3205). 

 This Court should grant review to overturn the Court of Appeal’s 

erroneous affirmance of the judgments on the first degree murder 

convictions and all true findings on the attendant enhancement allegations. 

The judgment violates Perez’s fundamental constitutional right to remain 

free of criminal conviction absent proof beyond a reasonable doubt of his 

guilt. (Jackson v. Virginia, supra, 443 U.S. 307 at pp. 318-319; People v. 

Johnson, supra, 26 Cal.3d at pp. 576-578; U.S. Const., Amend XIV.) 
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V. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO REMEDY THE PREJUDICIAL 

EFFECT OF THE UNDISPUTED ERROR IN THE TRIAL 

COURT’S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE 

SPECIFIC MENTAL STATE REQUIRED FOR THE 

MULTIPLE MURDER SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES  

 

 Apart from the need to reverse all the special circumstance 

enhancements tied to the first-degree murder convictions for which the 

record is lacking sufficiently substantial supporting evidence, the true 

findings on the multiple murder special circumstance allegations must be 

reversed because of the trial court’s failure to instruct the jury that true 

findings require Perez have acted with an intent to kill. Both the Attorney 

General and the Court of Appeal acknowledge this was error, but reason the 

error was “harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” (App. A at 69-70.) The 

basis for this claim is that the jury found the financial-gain special 

circumstance allegations true, as well as the gang special circumstance 

allegations, since they also require an intent to kill. (Ibid.) But these 

findings are hardly reliable bases on which to stake such a claim. Indeed, 

the Court of Appeal has reversed the true findings on the financial-gain 

special circumstance allegations in part specifically because the trial court 

failed to properly instruct on the intent-to-kill requirement. (App. A at 68, 

fn. 15.) And the gang special circumstance is no more reliable of an 

indicator here, since the evidence in support of all the gang-related findings 

is woefully insufficient to support a true connection to the Sinaloa cartel.  
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As an additional instructional error that violated Perez’s fundamental 

rights to due process, a fair trial, and to a reliable determination of guilt 

(U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, XIV; Cal. Const., art. I, §§ 7, 15, 16; Boyde v. 

California, supra, 494 U.S. 370 at p. 380), the true findings cannot stand. 

 

VI. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO REMEDY THE SIMILAR 

MISCARRIAGE OF JUSTICE IN THE FAILURE OF THE 

PROSECUTION’S EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE 

ATTEMPTED MURDER CONVICTION WITH 

CONSTITUTIONALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE      

 

Perez agrees with the Court of Appeal that “[t]he same evidence” 

concerning the first degree murder convictions would largely dictate the 

outcome on the question whether legally sufficient evidence supports the 

attempted murder conviction. (App. A at 34-35.) But it’s for this very 

reason that he maintains the attempted murder conviction must fail right 

alongside the murder convictions: contrary to the Court of Appeal’s 

perception of things, there is no sufficiently credible evidence to support a 

constitutionally solid finding that Perez acted with an intent to kill. Indeed, 

as the Court of Appeal seems to recognize, this theory of direct aiding and 

abetting is the only potentially valid theory upon which an attempted 

murder conviction could have been based. Yet, the record simply does not 

demonstrate with any solid proof that Perez even knew about, much less 

actively shared in, the perpetrators’ intent to kill the victims - particularly 

given the uncontroverted evidence that he operated under a real threat of 
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death or great bodily harm that clearly negates the existence of any personal 

intent to kill. This judgment must also be reversed as in violation of Perez’s 

fundamental right to be free of conviction absent constitutionally sufficient 

proof. (Jackson v. Virginia, supra, 443 U.S. 307, at pp. 318-319; People v. 

Johnson, supra, 26 Cal.3d at pp. 576-578; U.S. Const., Amend XIV.) 

 

 

VII. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO REMEDY THE PREJUDICIAL 

ERROR IN THE PRESENTATION TO THE JURORS OF 

MULTIPLE LEGALLY INVALID THEORIES OF GUILT AS 

BASES ON WHICH TO THEY COULD SUPPOSEDLY 

CONVICT PEREZ OF ATTEMPTED MURDER   

 

 Even assuming arguendo that the attempted murder conviction 

survives scrutiny under the deferential sufficiency-of-the-evidence 

standards, Perez continues to maintain that the conviction violates his 

fundamental rights to due process, a fair trial, and to a reliable 

determination of guilt (U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, XIV; Cal. Const., art. I, 

§§ 7, 15, 16; Boyde v. California, supra, 494 U.S. 370 at p. 380), because 

there is no way to rule out the possibility that the jury based its verdict upon 

one or more of the invalid theories of liability with which it was presented. 

 In reasoning otherwise, the Court of Appeal recognizes the problem 

with the instructions that placed before the jury the clearly invalid theory of 

“conspiracy to commit attempted murder,” but sets aside this error saying 

“we may assume that the jury found a member of the conspiracy intended 

to accomplish murder or kidnapping, rather than attempted murder.” (App. 
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A at 66.) There is no basis for simply assuming the jury completely ignored 

this invalid theory of liability; in fact, we must assume the contrary – that 

the jury did consider all theories of liability on which it was instructed, 

given the axiomatic presumption that juries apply all such instructions.   

 Regarding the two additional invalid theories of liability presented to 

the jury as supposed bases for conviction – “attempted felony murder” and 

“lying in wait attempted murder” – the Court of Appeal also fully 

recognizes that neither of these theories exists in the law and that the 

prosecution pushed them before the jury, but it dispenses with the problems 

as forfeited, harmless claims of prosecutorial misconduct. (App. A at 75-

78.) Perez is protected under the doctrine of ineffective assistance of 

counsel from any prejudicial consequences of the forfeiture rule that may 

otherwise apply, because there could be no good reason for trial counsel’s 

failure to object to the prosecution’s reliance upon invalid theories of guilt 

that went to the heart of the matter of Perez’s liability for attempted murder. 

(See Strickland v. Washington (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 686; People v. 

Ledesma (1987) 43 Cal.3d 171, 215; Coleman v. Thompson (1991) 501 

U.S. 722, 754; U.S. Const., Amends. VI & XIV; Cal. Const., art. I, § 15.)  

 All the Court of Appeal cites as possible evidence of “harmlessness” 

is that, in addition to, the invalid theories of guilt, the jury happened to also 

be correctly instructed that a conviction required finding an intent to kill. 

(App. A at 78.) The court misses the point. This doesn’t erase the risk of a 
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verdict based upon one or more of the invalid theories. That risk simply 

can’t be set aside because there’s no way to say with any degree of 

confidence that the jury relied upon a valid basis – especially given the true 

weakness of the evidence that Perez actually operated with an intent to kill.  

 

 

VIII. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO REMEDY THE KIDNAPPING 

CONVICTIONS ON COUNTS 8 AND 9 BECAUSE THE 

PROSECUTION’S EVIDENCE ALSO FAILS TO ESTABLISH 

CONSTITUTIONALLY SUFFICIENT SUPPORT FOR THE 

CRUCIAL ELEMENT OF ASPORATION 

 

 Perez joins Chavez in also continuing to contest the sufficiency of 

the evidence in support of the asportation element required for the 

kidnapping-robbery convictions. (Chavez PTR 31; Rule 8.200(a)(5).) The 

Court of Appeal does not attempt to base this affirmance on the movement 

of the victims inside the residence, which surely wouldn’t suffice since that 

movement was clearly incidental to the robbery. (See People v. Delgado 

(2013) 56 Cal.4th 480, 487.) Instead, the court relies upon the movement of 

the victims to the location of the shooting, which circles back to the central 

issue of whether the robbery was still ongoing at that time. Because the 

court believes the perpetrators need only have maintained “control” over 

the victims during this time for that to be the case and that they could not 

never have reached a place of temporary safety while having such control, 

it rests these convictions upon the notion that this movement occurred 

during the robbery. (App. A at 37-39.) But again, as discussed in Section II, 
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supra, under a proper analysis, the robbery was long over at this point. So 

the later movement of the victims to the desert doesn’t suffice as substantial 

evidence. (Jackson v. Virginia, supra, 443 U.S. at pp. 316, 318-319; People 

v. Johnson, supra, 26 Cal.3d at pp. 576-578; U.S. Const., Amend XIV.) 

 

IX. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RECTIFY THE PREJUDICIAL 

ERROR IN THE TRIAL COURT’S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT 

THE JURY ON THE DEFENSE OF DURESS  

 

 It’s just not the case that “there was no evidence of immediate harm” 

invoking a sua sponte instruction on the defense of duress. (App. A at 74.) 

Surely, at least one reasonable view of the evidence – if not the only 

reasonable view – is that Perez faced an ever-present threat that, as the 

Court of Appeal itself describes the situation, “if Perez failed or refused to 

participate, the others would attempt to kill him and/or his family 

members.” (App. A at 74.) The court attempts to analogize this situation to 

the case of People v. McKinney (1986) 187 Cal.App.3d 583, 587-588. But 

there, those who had made the death threats that formed the basis of the 

defendant’s claim of duress “were not present” when he committed the 

crime that he claimed he was forced to commit under duress. (App. A at 75, 

quoting McKinney.) Perez was surrounded throughout by those who had 

threatened to kill him; they kept him on a short leash for two to three days 

while they carried out their violent schemes against the victims. Anyone 

who bore witness to such behavior would fear “immediate” harmful 
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consequences for any disobedience of the aggressors’ orders – especially 

when specifically threatened with deathly reprisal for not following orders. 

At the least, we must say that a trier of fact reasonably could find 

Perez acted under “duress.” And that is enough to have required the 

instruction. (See People v. Barton (1995) 12 Cal.4th 186, 195.) In the 

absence of an instruction on what would have been a complete defense to 

several of the most serious charges and allegations, Perez was deprived of 

his fundamental rights to due process, a fair trial, and to a reliable 

determination of guilt. (U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, XIV; Cal. Const., art. I, 

§§ 7, 15, 16; Boyde v. California, supra, 494 U.S. 370 at p. 380.) 

 

 

X. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO REMEDY THE CUMULATIVE 

PREJUDICIAL EFFECT OF THE MULTIPLE TRIAL 

ERRORS, ASSUMING THEIR INDIVIDUAL IMPACT MAY 

NOT RISE TO THE LEVEL OF REVERSIBLE PREJUDICE 

 

 Finally, Perez presses the point that even if the individual errors 

don’t rise to the level of reversible prejudice, the cumulative prejudicial 

effect of the compounding errors surely does. (Parle v. Runnels (9th Cir. 

2007) 505 F.3d 922, 928 [The high court “has clearly established that the 

combined effect of multiple trial errors may give rise to a due process 

violation if it renders a trial fundamentally unfair, even where each error 

considered individually would not require reversal.”]; People v. Hill (1998) 

17 Cal.4th 800, 844, overruled on other grounds in Price v. Superior Court 
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(2001) 25 Cal.4th 1046, 1069, fn. 13 [“[A] series of trial errors, though 

independently harmless, may in some circumstances rise by accretion to the 

level of reversible and prejudicial error.”]; accord People v. Williams 

(2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 587, 646.) Reversible prejudice is inevitable. 

XI. JOINDER OF CLAIMS 

 Pursuant to Rule 8.200(a)(5), Perez joins the claims of the co-

appellants in this case insofar as specifically stated herein and generally 

insofar any of their other claims may equally apply and inure to his benefit.    

CONCLUSION  

 Perez respectfully requests the Court grant this petition. 

Dated:   May 12, 2018   

     Respectfully submitted, 

     _______________________ 

     Raymond Mark DiGuiseppe, 

     Attorney for Jose Luis Perez 
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